1960

State of Utah v. Mack Merrill Rivenburgh, Jr. and Leonard Warner Bowne : Brief of Appellant Bowne

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 24th day of August, 1958, at approximately 8:00 p.m., LeRoy Joseph Verner was killed. The decedent was an inmate at the Utah State Prison, and the homicide occurred at the Prison in the attic to Cell Block A. The killing was accomplished by Mack Merrill Rivenburgh, Jr. (R. 513; T. 552, 553, 604-613). There were two other inmates present in the attic at the time of the killing, Jesse M. Garcia, Jr., and the appellant in this matter, Leonard Warner Bowne.

Earlier that day, Rivenburgh had informed Bowne that he intended to perform an act of sodomy with the decedent. He asked Bowne to serve as a lookout in the

attic during the act of perversion (R. 269, 270, 319, 503; T. 253, 584-586, 684, and 694). Because of fear, which Bowne held for Rivenburgh, and the custom of the Prison, Bowne agreed to act as "point man" during the act of sodomy. Pursuant to this, Rivenburgh secured some soiled clothing for Bowne to wear in the dusty attic (R. 503, 504; T. 659). Bowne changed into the soiled clothes, mingled and talked with other inmates in the cell block (T. 229 and 695), and approximately one-half hour later entered the attic with Garcia.

Bowne and Garcia were in the attic about ten minutes prior to the arrival of Rivenburgh and the decedent (T. 639). While waiting they talked casually and smoked a cigarette. After Rivenburgh and the decedent entered the attic, the decedent began to undress in preparation for the act of sodomy (T. 601 and 602). It was dark in the attic. Rivenburgh spoke to Bowne to make sure he and Garcia were "on point," and told Bowne to close the grating which covered the place of entry (R. 512; T. 608, 641, and 698).

Bowne removed his shoes so as to make less noise in crossing the metal deck of the attic (T. 697 and 698). As he passed by Rivenburgh he noticed the decedent undressing and also noticed that Rivenburgh was holding a knife which he frequently carried (T. 836 and 837). Rivenburgh and the decedent were talking in an inconspicuous tone, and Bowne did not pay any attention to what was said (T. 699).

While Bowne was adjusting the loose grating, he had his back to Rivenburgh and the decedent. Bowne heard a

loud scream, pounding on the metal deck, and a great deal of noise which seemed to indicate an intensive struggle between Rivenburgh and the decedent (T. 700 and 736). Rivenburgh cried out. He had lost his knife, and he asked for help in finding it. (T. 701; see also T. 607 and 611).

Governed by instinct and fear, Bowne opened a pocket-knife which he carried with him (T. 701 and 702). Upon quick reflection, Bowne closed the knife and returned it to his pocket (T. 703). He fell on his hands and knees and attempted to find the knife lost by Rivenburgh (T. 701). In this position Bowne was severely cut in the upper portion of his leg, although at no time did he join the struggle or make any physical contact with the decedent (T. 704). While looking for the knife, Bowne felt something warm and sticky which later proved to be blood (T. 703).

Rivenburgh fled the scene; running to the opposite end of the attic, he descended to the catwalk below. Garcia followed Rivenburgh, and Bowne, after having some difficulty finding his shoes, came out of the attic last (T. 705). In the excitement, Bowne had gained possession of two knives which he brought out of the attic (T. 706 and 707).

The three with the help of other inmates cleaned themselves, disposed of the bloody clothing, and established alibis (R. 245, 268; T. 229-243, 707-710). Sometime later Bowne concluded that the decedent had been killed (T. 772). At no time did Bowne take part in any plan to kill the decedent, or entertain any intent to kill (T. 642, 645, 699, 703-706, 710).

Of course there was much conflicting evidence, and the State will rely on facts somewhat different than the essential elements we have set forth above. There was testimony concerning a conversation between Rivenburgh and another inmate, Randel, which took place on the 24th of August prior to the homicide. Bowne was present as the other two discussed the drugged condition of the decedent. The decedent, as well as the other inmates involved, including the witnesses for the State, had taken excessive amounts of amphetimine pills over a period of days prior to the homicide. During this conversation Rivenburgh remarked that somebody was going to cut off the decedent's head if he continued to act as he had (R. 497; T. 221-223, and 691). This led Rivenburgh and Randel to a general discussion of various methods of homicide (T. 245 and 246). Bowne did not pay particular attention to what was said, since such talk was common place at the Prison (R. 276-278, 296, 297, 497; T. 691 and 692). Indulging in amphetimines and other drugs, possessing knives, threatening death, and engaging in acts of sodomy were not unusual activities for inmates of the Utah State Prison at this time—especially Rivenburgh (R. 233-238, 281-283, 285-289, 488-495, 500, 501, 510; T. 251, 252, 609, and 610).

Garcia was tried separately. Rivenburgh and the appellant Bowne were tried jointly and convicted of murder in the first degree. The detailed testimony introduced supports all of these facts. We will refer to the details of the testimony as they become applicable in stating our arguments.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

A. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ART. I, § 7,* AND *THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMEND. XIV.*

B. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ART. I, § 12.*

C. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMEND. XIV.*

POINT II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A SEPARATE TRIAL.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS SINCE THE JURY COULD NOT HAVE FOUND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF MURDER.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 15 IS CONFUSING AND IN ERROR BECAUSE IT FAILS TO SEPARATE THE CRIME OF SODOMY FROM THE CRIME OF

MURDER, AND IN ITS ABSTRACT FORM COULD ALLOW THE JURY TO FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF MURDER IF THEY BELIEVED HE AIDED AND ABETTED IN THE ACT OF SODOMY.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 26 IS IN ERROR SINCE IT FAILS TO RESTRICT THE JURY TO A CONSIDERATION OF THE ADMISSIONS AND STIPULATIONS OF THE PARTIES DURING THE TRIAL TO EACH RESPECTIVE PARTY.

POINT VI.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 13.

POINT VII.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL.

POINT VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO COMPEL THE PROSECUTION TO FURNISH TAPE RECORDINGS AND COPIES OF STATEMENTS MADE BY WITNESSES AND DEFENDANTS.

POINT IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO ADMIT EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE CHARACTER AND REPUTATION OF THE DECEASED.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

A. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ART. I, § 7,* AND *THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMEND. XIV.*

B. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ART. I, § 12.*

C. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS IN THAT *UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-30-2 (1953)* IS VIOLATIVE OF *THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMEND. XIV.*

Utah Code Ann. § 77-30-15 (1953), which allows a person charged with a crime to exercise certain peremptory challenges, reads as follows:

“The state and defendant shall each be allowed the following number of peremptory challenges:

- (a) Ten, if the offense charged is punishable by death.
- (b) Four, if the offense charged is a felony not punishable by death.
- (c) Three, if the offense charged is a misdemeanor.”

In the event of a joint trial, this section is modified by the provisions of *Utah Code Ann. § 77-30-2 (1953)*, which states:

"If two or more defendants are jointly tried they shall collectively be allowed the number of peremptory challenges specified in section 77-30-15 only in case they join in such collective challenges, but in addition to such challenges each defendant shall be allowed the following number of peremptory challenges which may be separately exercised:

- (a) Two, if the offense charged is punishable by death.
- (b) One, if the offense charged is not punishable by death."

The two defendants in the instant case could not agree upon the ten peremptory challenges allowed in section 77-30-15 or any of them (T. 64 and 65). Under the terms of section 77-30-2, each defendant would be entitled to exercise only two peremptory challenges. With this in mind, the defendant Bowne conditionally agreed to the selections of defendant Rivenburg in order that the defendant Rivenburg would not be denied his full number of peremptory challenges (T. 64 and 65). This was done with the approval of the trial judge on the express understanding that the defendant Bowne would not thereby sacrifice his objections to the section or waive any right to appeal the question to this Court (T. 65).

Since the defendant was tried jointly and could not agree upon any of the challenges with the other defendant, he was restricted to only two peremptory challenges. Even a defendant charged with a misdemeanor is entitled to three peremptory challenges. *Utah Code Ann.* § 77-30-15 (1953). To allow a defendant who is charged with an offense punishable by death only two such challenges

is certainly unjust, unfair, and violative of the due process provisions of our Constitutions. *Utah Const., art. I, § 7; Const., amend. XIV*. Such a result violates our traditional concepts of fair play and substantial justice, and denies the defendant a trial by a fair and impartial jury. *Utah Const., art. I, § 12*.

This question was first raised in Utah in the case of *People v. O'Laughlin*, 3 Utah 133, 1 Pac. 653 (1882). At that time Utah was a territory, but the statute in question had the same effect as section 77-30-2. The court reviewed the argument of the counsel for the defense as follows:

“[Counsel for the defense argued] that in criminal cases each defendant must plead for himself in person; each makes a separate issue with the people on the question of his guilt. If convicted, each must suffer punishment for himself, or each may be pardoned on his own merits. One can appeal without affecting another. In all this, it is claimed, there is a distinction between criminal and civil cases. In a civil case one judgment only is recorded; one satisfaction pays for all; and therefore, in a criminal case the trial is necessarily separate, to a certain extent; in other words, the word ‘party’ as used in the statute, means each individual defendant.” (Id. at 1 Pac. 655)

The court rejected the defendant's argument that each defendant was entitled to exercise the full number of peremptories and held that the challenges had to be exercised jointly. The reasoning behind this interpretation was stated as follows:

"By the statute riot is made a felony, and section 262 of the criminal procedure act gives to any defendant jointly indicted with another or others, for a felony, the right to a separate trial, if he requires it. All the defendants having waived this privilege and declared their election to be tried jointly, their defense was joint and not several, and no one of them had authority to control the conduct of the defense." (Id. at 1 Pac. 656)

From 1878 until 1935, Utah had a statute which entitled any person charged with a felony to a separate trial. Section 105-32-6 of the Revised Statutes of 1933 read as follows:

"When two or more defendants are jointly charged with a felony any defendant requiring it must be tried separately. In other cases the defendants jointly charged may be tried separately or jointly in the discretion of the court."

See also *Crim. Prac. Act of 1878*, § 262, p. 116; *C. L.* § 5038 (1888); *R.S.* § 4850 (1898); *C. L.* § 4850 (1907); *C.L.* § 5980 (1917).

When a defendant had the right to demand a separate trial, the provisions of section 77-30-2 were not objectionable. If a joint defendant did not agree with the other defendants as to the exercise of the challenges then he could demand a separate trial, and thus take advantage of the full number of challenges allowed by section 77-30-15. On March 14, 1935, section 105-32-6 was amended to read substantially the same as *Utah Code Ann.* § 77-31-6 (1953). From that time until the present date, a joint defendant has had no right to demand a separate

trial. A separate trial may only be granted in the discretion of the trial judge. When there is no way in which a defendant can assure himself of the full number of peremptory challenges granted by section 77-30-15, section 77-30-2, requiring the challenges to be exercised jointly, becomes objectionable and unconstitutional.

In *Carroll v. State*, 139 Fla. 233, 190 So. 437 (1939), the court stated as follows:

"Under the Constitution of the United States and the State of Florida the defendant in a criminal case is guaranteed the right to a trial by an impartial jury and it is to effectuate this guaranty that he may reject a certain number of those who are called to the jury box without giving his reason for not wishing them to pass upon his guilt or innocence. By this means he may escape the judgment of those whom he may consider prejudicial against him but whom he may not be able to show disqualified for causes defined by statute." (Id. at 190 So. 438)

See also *Meade v. State*, 85 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1956).

There are cases to the effect that peremptory challenges are within the discretion of the legislature. These cases hold that there is no constitutional right to a peremptory challenge as contrasted with a challenge for cause. Even if this view is taken, section 77-30-2 is unconstitutional in that it denied the defendant the equal protection of the law. *Const., amend. XIV.*

When the legislature has provided for peremptory challenges, as the Utah legislature has in section 77-30-

15, rights every bit as real as those created by the Constitution come into being. The Utah legislature went further, however, and in section 77-30-2 it restricted the right to peremptory challenges which a defendant tried jointly might have. In other words, section 77-30-2 differentiates between two types of defendants one of which is excluded from the substantive provisions of section 77-30-15. The effect of this section is to discriminate against any joint defendant who cannot agree with the others. Such discrimination is unreasonable and arbitrary and renders section 77-30-2 unconstitutional.

In *State v. Mason*, 94 Utah 501, 78 P.2d 920 (1938), Justice Wolfe set forth the proper standard with which to determine the constitutionality of an act which is questioned as denying the equal protection of the laws. In doing so he made the following comments:

“A denial of the laws equal protection presupposes an unreasonable discrimination between those included and those excluded from the act whether the act confers a privilege or a right or imposes a duty or an obligation.

“* * *

“Of course, every legislative act is in one sense discriminatory. The legislature cannot legislate as to all persons or all subject matters. It is inclusive as to some class or group and as to some human relationships, transactions, or functions and exclusive as to the remainder. For that reason, to be unconstitutional the discrimination must be unreasonable or arbitrary. A classification is never unreasonable or arbitrary in its inclusion or exclusion features so long as there is some basis for the differentiation between classes

or subject matters included as compared to those excluded from its operation, provided the differentiation bears a reasonable relation to the purposes to be accomplished by the act.

“* * *

“It is only where some persons or transactions excluded from the operation of the law are as to the subject matter of the law in no differentiable class from those included in its operation that the law is discriminatory in the sense of being arbitrary and unconstitutional. If a reasonable basis to differentiate those included from those excluded from its operation can be found, it must be held constitutional.”

The legislature's purpose in enacting section 77-30-15 is obvious. The purpose behind section 77-30-2, which restricts the operation of 77-30-15 in joint trial is not so clear. One purpose certainly was to expedite the administration of justice. However, it seems clear that the legislature did not intend to limit a person charged with a felony to any number of peremptory challenges short of that set forth in 77-30-15. The legislature in fact granted the joint defendant extra challenges which could be exercised separately, and of course if a joint defendant could not agree then he had the right to demand a separate trial. See page 10; *People v. O'Laughlin*, 3 Utah 133, 1 Pac. 653 (1882).

When the defendant could no longer demand a separate trial, it became possible for section 77-30-2 to produce a result contrary to the original legislative intent. Such a result was achieved in the instant case. The defendant failed to agree with his joint defendant, and thus

was excluded from the operation of section 77-30-15 as to its subject matter, and could exercise only the two extra peremptories allowed under section 77-30-2.

The fact that the defendant was tried jointly is not a reasonable differentiation as measured against the standard of *State v. Mason*. The differentiation has nothing to do with the crime with which he was charged. The defendant had to make his own defense, which incidently was antagonistic to that of his joint defendant. If the end result of the trial is adverse to the defendant, then he will have to pay for the crime personally just the same as if he had been tried separately.

The differentiation is unreasonable in view of the fact that the defendant cannot control the class he is in. That is, whether he is included in the operation of section 77-30-15 or excluded by virtue of section 77-30-2 has nothing to do with his own intent or power. Of course he can agree—but if the act is construed as forcing his consent then it certainly discriminates against him. The trial judge can remove the defendant from the operation of section 77-30-2 by granting a separate trial, but the defendant has no right to demand such action. The deputy county attorney who drafts the complaint has more control over the class in which the defendant will be placed than any other person. In fact in the instant case, one of the three persons implicated in the crime was tried separately, while the defendant Bowne was tried jointly with another.

The purpose of expediency is, of course, still present; however, this is not sufficient to justify the arbitrary dif-

ferentiation of the act set forth. Expediency must be weighed against our traditional guarantees of liberty and justice. It is the duty of the court to protect the people from unwarranted inroads made in the guise of efficiency. We rightly have many safeguards surrounding a person accused of the crime of murder. Such an individual should be tried with care which corresponds with the awful responsibility of taking human life to atone for crime.

Even with this purpose in mind it seems clear that the legislators, in part, followed the purpose behind section 77-30-15, since they gave the defendants two extra challenges. At the time the act was passed, this meant if the defendants agreed they would get ten between them and two each separately or a total of fourteen. If they could not agree, then any one of them could demand a separate trial and secure the full ten peremptory challenges. Thus the dominant purpose was still to give the person charged jointly the benefit of any doubt. He could not get less than the number provided in the counterpart of section 77-30-15.

In contrast to the instant situation, it is interesting to note that any challenge of unconstitutionality before 1933 would have to come from a defendant tried separately on the grounds that one tried jointly could secure additional peremptories. In this situation the differentiation would be reasonable with the thought in mind that the joint defendant would have to agree on the ten challenges.

Certainly the statute in question is unreasonable and arbitrary within the meaning of *State v. Mason*. In the instant case it produced a result which denied the defendant of the equal protection of the laws. It is violative of both the Constitution of Utah and the Constitution of the United States. Section 77-30-2 should be struck down as unconstitutional.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A SEPARATE TRIAL.

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