1960

# State of Utah v. Mack Merrill Rivenburgh, Jr. and Leonard Warner Bowne : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

(Rivenburgh)

THE VERDICT CONFORMS TO THE EVIDENCE.

The general rule in this state is expressed in *State v. Priestley*, 97 U. 158, 91 P. 2d 447, to the effect that jurors cannot impeach their verdict except in instances

expressly made exceptions by legislative enactment. In Section 77-38-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, seven grounds for a new trial are given, one of them being:

“(6) When the verdict or decision is contrary to law or evidence.”

This subsection is relied upon by Appellant Rivenburgh at Point I of his brief.

Respondent believes that the affidavits submitted by Rivenburgh are of no consequence and in fact cannot be used to buttress his argument that the verdict was contrary to the evidence. This is for the court alone to determine and lay jurors can add nothing whatsoever by affidavit or otherwise to a proper consideration of this problem.

As a matter of fact, it appears clear that the only subsections of Section 77-38-3 as to which jurors' affidavits or testimony could be of any use are (2), (3) and (4), relating to evidence received out of court; to situations where the jury has separated without leave of the court after retiring for deliberation, or where misconduct has occurred; and to situations where the verdict has been determined by lot or means other than a fair expression of opinion by all jurors. Any statements or evidence prepared or given by jurors as to the other four subsections of the statute would be completely immaterial.

Rivenburgh's defense rests on his mental condition after having swallowed what he alleges were a great many amphetamine pills, commercially known as Drinalfas. The jury did not choose to adopt this theory and apparently

concluded that Rivenburgh was able to form the intent necessary to commission of first degree murder.

The jurors must have believed either that Rivenburgh did not take the dosage claimed, or that Dr. Clark's testimony proved that what he did take was not enough to prevent his forming the intent necessary to commit the act. Disregarding for the present any belief the jury may have had as to the number of pills consumed by Rivenburgh immediately prior to the killing, respondent will turn to a consideration of what was in evidence as to the effect of the drug.

At page 4 of his brief, Rivenburgh quotes from Dr. Clark's testimony, skipping here and there and taking only short fragments. It would seem advisable, therefore, at this point, to set forth additional excerpts from the transcript for the use of the court. Rivenburgh quotes, at page 4 of his brief, the statement of the doctor that he had had no experience with a certain dosage of amphetamine over a seven-hour period. Since Dr. Clark was an expert witness, he was not limited to his own observations, but could testify on what he had learned by study *Webb v. Olin Mathieson Chem. Co.*, 9 U. 2d. 275, 342 P. 2d 1094, and through conferences with other doctors. At page 463 of the transcript, Dr. Clark states as follows:

"On the other hand, the stimulant drugs, a stimulant can do so much, so to speak, and the addition of even a major increase in the dose will commonly not produce all of that additional effect.

"I had a talk with Dr. Winkler a year ago, in which we talked about some of his work, with amphetamine and he pointed out that by slowly

raising the dose, one could get up to 1400 milligrams a day, without seriously disorganizing the individual.

"We were discussing the question of tolerance development, and effects, and that actually it was quite possible, if one had the courage, that you could take,—you for instance and give you 1400 milligrams right now—

"Q. I don't have that much courage.

"A. It might not produce delirium. It might kill you, or might produce only the same effect as a fairly modest dose, but no one has dared to do such an experiment."

Dr. Clark's testimony continues at line 22, T. 445:

"Q. Now is his behavior more important to you in arriving at that conclusion, than knowing the amount of Drinalfa he had taken during this period?

"A. The behavior is all that we have to judge by, and it would be more important than knowing the precise dose, in that there is evidence, for example, that even a very massive amount could have been taken, and no delirium occur, which we cited instances on."

Important answers are given regarding large dosages at T. 433:

"Q. Do you know of any instances or case histories, where large doses of this has been used?

"A. Yes. There are cases reported of the gestation of 250 milligrams a day for long periods of time. One case is 700 milligrams a day for several months, one of 250 per day for 5 years. The com-

mon dose use by addicts is about 200 or 250 milligrams a day.

"Q. So that on this 700 per day, it would be approximately—I believe you said 700 milligrams per day; is that correct?

"A. Yes, this is citing amphetamine, which is a closer related drug.

"Q. That would be 350 of these pills per day; is that correct?

"A. If my arithmetic is right, 5 grams into 700—5 milligrams into 700 would be 140.

"Q. That is 140 of these tablets in a day; is that correct?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Can you tell us what effects were observed on these particular case histories?

"A. These cases were cited to illustrate the remarkable tolerance of these drugs which can develop. I am not familiar with the actual behavior of these individuals during this time. But they are not incompatible with their functioning reasonably well in terms of work, etc.

"I have personal experience of addicts who have taken this amount of drugs and functioned relatively well.

"However, it is cited that at the end of this prolonged addiction, there did occur, a toxic reaction to the drug whereby their behavior became disturbed.

"Q. In these three cases you cited, how long a period did they take them?

"A. One case cited 250 milligrams a day for five years, the other 700 milligrams a day for several months."

At page 5 of his brief, Rivenburgh quotes a statement of Dr. Clark (T. 442) to the effect that, "Yes, I would say that amphetamine does alter mental state, changes self-awareness," etc. However, at T. 475, the following colloquy occurs, with the questions being asked by Mr. Banks:

"Q. Doctor, would a person's behavior change to a point, while he is under the influence of Drinalfa—would it change to a point he would do something, under that influence, which he would not do under circumstances when he had not taken the Drinalfa?

"A. No, I would not expect it."

At T. 442, the following questions and answers occur:

"Now with reference to the mental processes, as to destroying mental processes, would there also have to be toxic delirium present?

"A. I do not like the word 'destroy', because to me, this implies a total obliteration of functions.

"Q. Let us use the word 'impair', doctor.

"A. Yes. I would say that amphetamine does alter mental state, changes self-awareness, gives us an increased feeling of alertness, etc. but so far as producing a disturbance that would disrupt the whole pattern of the individual's behavior, this would not occur, unless there was occurrence of delirium."

Furthermore, at T. 470, Dr. Clark states as follows:

"A. No, sir, I cannot agree with this step-wise thing you describe. The experimental work I have done with these drugs, where one was testing a specific thing of controlling what one was saying,

I found that all of the drugs I studied, up to the point that the individual became unconscious, he was able to perform extremely well in the express measures I was using, which involved ego control or the control of what one said or did not say, and I could cite these details if you wish."

In answer to a hypothetical question, utilizing the facts of the case introduced in evidence but not assuming any specific amount of amphetamine taken by Rivenburgh, Dr. Clark testified at T. 444, that doing such acts as were indicated by the question would not mean that the amphetamine he had taken had impaired his mind to the point of destroying his ability to determine the difference between right and wrong.

On redirect examination, Dr. Clark at T. 475 states that even though a person does perform a spur-of-the-moment action, it does not mean that he does not know what he is doing. At T. 438, Dr. Clark says that short of toxic delirium the brain process is not disturbed by the use of the pills nor is it impaired. He further states that amnesia does not derive from use of the drug nor does the drug have any particular effect either to stimulate or suppress sexual desires.

Rivenburgh's own testimony as to the events which occurred prior to, at the time of, and after the killing is clear, comprehensive, and precise as to details. This alone should completely answer the allegation that he was not in control of his faculties. Rivenburgh knew on the day of the murder and knew at the time of the trial exactly what was happening at the crucial times. His acts were premeditated and were not the result of taking the pills.



This is shown by the following excerpt from the transcript, beginning at line 17, on page 634:

(By Mr. Banks.)

Q. But it was the pills causing your action Sunday?

A. Pardon me, sir?

Q. That it was the pills causing your action on Sunday?

A. I just got mad, sir.

Q. You knew what you were doing Sunday, except when you got mad?

A. I believe I did, yes; at least I think."

Furthermore, Rivenburgh had been on the pills, according to his own testimony (his brief, page 12) ever since June. Thus, he had managed to build up a great tolerance for them and the 55 to 60 pills he claims he took, if in fact he did take them (T. 520), could have had nowhere near the effect on him as upon one not accustomed to regular use.

Here there was overwhelming evidence that Rivenburgh was not so affected as to be unable to form the necessary intent.

Nor, can Rivenburgh, not having introduced expert evidence at the trial to combat Dr. Clark's statements, now present to the court for the first time on appeal excerpts from medical texts as he has presumed to do in his brief at pages 14 through 17.

## POINT II

(Rivenburgh)

THERE IS NO PROOF THAT THE JURY IN ITS DELIBERATION WENT OUTSIDE THE EVIDENCE AND TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE OPENING STATEMENT OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT BOWNE. EVIDENCE WAS ADDUCED TO SUPPORT SAID STATEMENT. IF ERROR WAS COMMITTED, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN LIGHT OF ALL THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

Bowne attempted to show that he feared Rivenburgh enough to do what Rivenburgh demanded of him. While he did not testify in full detail as to Mr. Hansen's comments at page 18 of Rivenburgh's brief, Bowne did testify that he performed all the acts asked of him or demanded of him by Rivenburgh relating to such things as standing point, coming to assist him and attempting to find his knife, and in establishing an alibi to help him. Such references are numerous and appear among other places at T. 582, 590, 693, 694, 699, 710, 721, 726, 733, 735, 792, 834, 839 and 843.

Mr. Hansen's comments were not evidence and were not so regarded by the jury.

Rivenburgh could not possibly have been hurt by any failure on the part of Bowne to produce evidence concerning matters in Mr. Hansen's opening statement. Quite to the contrary, any omissions definitely were in his favor. Additional evidence of compulsion on the part of Rivenburgh and fear on the part of Bowne would only have increased the jury's belief as to Rivenburgh's guilt.

Furthermore, Rivenburgh's counsel did not object to Mr. Hansen's statement nor request an instruction for the purpose of curing the supposed error. It is, of course, not error for the court not to give an instruction where it is not asked. *State v. Peterson*, 121 U. 229, 240 P.2d 504. So much of a derogatory nature was adduced as to Rivenburgh that any affect Mr. Hansen's statement might have had would have been insignificant. Therefore, if error did occur, it did not constitute reversible error.

### POINT III

(Rivenburgh)

THE HYPOTHETICAL QUESTION ASKED DR. CLARK WAS ENTIRELY PROPER AND ITS ADMISSION DID NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

•

Appellant Rivenburgh makes many objections in his Point IV to the hypothetical question presented to T. 444 and 445, but does not go into any of them in detail, nor does he present law supporting them.

The fairness of a hypothetical question is largely a matter resting in the discretion of the trial court, whose ruling thereon will not be grounds for reversal in the absence of a showing of abuse of such discretion. *Martinez v. People*, (Colo.), 235 P.2d 810.

Respondent believes Rivenburgh's argument can be answered fully by pointing out that the district attorney asked two hypothetical questions, each eliciting a separate answer from Dr. Clark. To the first question and answer, beginning at T. 444, Rivenburgh's counsel did not object

and therefore waived any objection he might have had. Even if the court, despite Dr. Clark's answer at line 23 of T. 444, should regard the hypothetical questions as a single question, however, the objections of Rivenburgh are not well taken. The only ground there relied on is that no mention was made of the amount of amphetamine consumed.

The contention of counsel for Rivenburgh that the hypothetical question was based on facts not in evidence is not true. With possibly one minor exception, all were clearly in evidence before the question was asked. The following references are only a few of many showing this in the transcript.

As to securing a knife or knives, see T. 225, 307, 344 and 423.

As to a disguise (for example, using someone else's clothes), see T. 224 and 357.

As to change of clothing, see T. 224, 346 and 357.

As to preparations for and the actual attempt to sever the head of the victim, see T. 221, 350 and 360.

As to the death of the victim, see T. 146 and 366.

As to the destruction of clothing, see T. 240, 368 and 390.

As to the creation of an alibi, see T. 257, 343 and 393.

Respondent has not found testimony introduced prior to the asking of the question relating specifically to the cleaning of Rivenburgh's shoes; but again, no objection to the question was made on this or any other ground and, therefore, it is waived.

The other contentions of Rivenburgh's Point IV are without merit and have been answered heretofore in this brief.

## POINT IV

(Bowned)

APPELLANT BOWNE WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FEDERAL OR STATE CONSTITUTION; HE WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY; HE WAS NOT DENIED EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS; NOR DOES SECTION 77-30-2, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, VIOLATE EITHER THE FEDERAL OR STATE CONSTITUTION.

Appellant Bowne does not present a strenuous argument for either his due process of law or fair and impartial jury theories but does seem to lay great stress upon the matter of equal protection of the laws.

As to the question of denial of due process of law under the Utah Constitution, this court has held in *Christiansen v. Harris*, 109 U. 1, 163 P.2d 314, that the essentials of due process are:

“\* \* \* (a) the existence of a competent person, body, or agency authorized by law to determine the questions; (b) an inquiry into the merits of the question by such person, body, or agency; (c) notice to the person of the inauguration and purpose of the inquiry and the time at which such person should appear if he wishes to be heard; (d) right to appear in person or by counsel; (e) fair opportunity to submit evidence, examine and cross-examine witnesses; (f) judgment to be rendered upon the

record thus made. In the absence of statute laying down other or more specific requirements, the above conditions meet the demands of due process. \* \* \*

In the same case the court said that while many attempts had been made to further define due process of law, all of them revolve around the idea that a party shall have his day in court.

The case of *Untermeyer, et al., v. State Tax Comm., et al.*, 102 U. 214, 129 P.2d 881, held that since our due process clause is substantially the same as those in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, U. S. Supreme Court decisions are to be considered highly persuasive by this court.

With reference to the Federal Amendments, it has always been held that due process of law is not to be turned into a destructive dogma against the states in the administration of their system of criminal justice; and the procedure followed by the states shall not be held to violate the requirements of due process unless it violates the very essence of a scheme of ordered liberty and unless to continue it would violate a principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of the people as to be ranked as fundamental. 16A C.J.S. 579, at page 623.

The prosecution of crime is a matter for the individual states except for the limited scope of the federal criminal code; and the due process clause does not require that criminal procedure be uniform throughout the states, but each state can choose the methods and practices by which crime is brought to book as long as the ultimate

dignities of man assured by the Federal Constitution are observed. *Carter v. People of State of Illinois*, 67 S.Ct. 216, 329 U. S. 173.

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